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Key Figures

CONSOLIDATED FOR THE GROUP

(USD million) 2016 2015 2014

Net TC Result 1)  4,4  44,5  26,2 
EBITDA 1)  -19,2  9,1  -8,8 
Annual result 1,2)  -20,0  7,2  -11,7 

Total assets  98,6  117,3  197,8 
Book equity  13,8  47,1  66,9 
Total liabilities  84,8  70,2  130,9 

Free cash  26,7  46,3  46,9 
Restricted cash  6,3  6,4  10,3 
Total cash  33,0  52,7  57,2 

Average number of vessels operated  125  155  169 
Net TC margin per ship day (USD) 1)  96  785  426 

1) Net TC and EBITDA are excluding USD -4.4 million Net TC loss related to counterparty default in 2016 and a one-off gain of USD 10.7 million in 2014 
2) Excluding the items in 1) above and impairments, provisions and write-offs of USD -12.5 million in 2016 and USD -23.3 million in 2015  
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Highlights
■ Dry Bulk Market

The dry bulk shipping market hit a historical low in 2016, as the increase in the world’s 
fleet again exceeded the demand growth. In particular, the Baltic Supramax Index (BSI) 
continued its steep decline from the end of 2015 and into 2016. The rates bottomed out 
during Q1-16 and thereafter slowly increased throughout the year. Average rates were 
about USD 6 280 per day for 2016 compared to an average of about USD 6 925 per day 
in 2015. The BSI ended 2016 at USD 9 445 per day.

■ Operational Performance
The poor market conditions and turmoil in the wake of the restructuring of the Group in 
the beginning of 2016, had a negative impact on the Group’s business and financial 
performance in 2016. This impacted the first half of the year in particular. The gradually 
improved market conditions and a recapitalization of the Group gave a positive trend 
throughout the second half, with a growth in the operated fleet as well as improving Net 
TC margins in this period: 

•  The operated fleet declined from an average of 155 vessels in 
2015 to 125 vessels in 2016, with a low-point of 109 vessels operated in Q2-16. 

•  The Net TC margin per ship day declined from USD 785 in 2015 to  
USD 96 in 2016, with a low-point of USD -543 in Q2-16. 

■ Expansions
New hires have increased the staff to approximately 110 at year-end 2016. In particular, 
we have increased our staff to match our increased market presence in the US Gulf area 
as well as establishing a branch office in Morocco to support new business in the West 
Africa region.

■ Ownership
Following the restructuring and recapitalization in 2016, Western Bulk Chartering AS is 
privately owned by about 250 shareholders. The Kistefos Group (www.kistefos.no) is the 
main shareholder, controlling about 74% of the shares. 
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The Group has a global reach and a 
local presence with offices located 
in stragegically important areas for 
shipping and trade of dry bulk 
commodities. The Group’s seven 
business units operate with local 
authority and responsibility.
Decentralized decision-making 
authority, matched with alignment 
of risk and reward for each 
business unit, makes the Group 
agile and able to quickly respond to 
local changes in the market.  
A centralized risk management 
team monitors the market risk 
exposures of each business units 
and aggregated for the Group in an 
advanced risk control system with 
defined risk limits.

US West Coast – Seattle

US Gulf – Miami

Indian Ocean – Singapore

Pacific – Singapore

Chile – Santiago

 South Atlantic – 
Oslo

Steel/Cont/Med – Oslo
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About Western Bulk

Western Bulk is a major operator of dry bulk vessels in the Handysize, Supramax and Ultramax
segments. The Group operates its chartered-in fleet and cargo contracts through its two  
subsidiaries Western Bulk Carriers AS and Western Bulk Pte Ltd, which are supported by  
chartering and operations teams in Oslo (Norway), Singapore, Miami (USA), Seattle (USA)  
Santiago (Chile) and Casablanca (Morocco). 

Western Bulk Chartering AS is privately owned by about 
250 shareholders. The Kistefos Group is the main 
shareholder, controlling about 74% of the shares. 
The Group operates a fleet of around 120-140  

chartered-in vessels, transporting cargoes for its 
customers world-wide. The Group has a healthy balance 
sheet and a robust business model, which since 2007 has 
proven successful in challenging trading environments. 

The Group has a highly diversified 
customer base with a broad cargo 
mix and diverse geographical 
footprint. In 2016, the Group did 
business with more than 400 
different cargo customers, of which 
no single customer exceeded 2% of 
total revenue. No single commodity 
accounted for more than 21% of 
the volume of transported cargo in 
2016.

China 16 %

Thailand 7 %

India 7 %

United States 6 %

Other 53 %

Peru 3 %
Qatar 3 %

Guatemala 3 %

Discharge area by volume 2016

Group structure: The below chart shows the main companies of the Group.

Management Services

Chartering ActivityChartering Activity

A Service Business A Margin Business A People Business

Performs seaborne transportation 
of commodities for cargo 

customers

Creates margin from arbitrage and 
mispricing in the market

Relationships, skills (commercial 
and operational) and systems 

are crucial assets

Ensures safe employment of 
vessels for vessel owners 

(risk imtermediation)

Takes advantages of informational 
advantage to take limited short-term 

positions on the market

Flat and decentralized 
organizational structure

100% Ownership

Western Bulk
Carriers AS

Western Bulk
Pte Ltd

Western Bulk
Chartering AS

Western Bulk
Management AS

Coal 21 %

Minerals 20 %

Fertilizers 7 %Agri/Grains 19 %

Steel products 11 %

Ferrous Ores 11 %

Cement 9 %
Other 2 %

Cargo diversification 2016

37.6 million 
tonnes

In 2016 Western Bulk carried
37.6 million tons of cargo.
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Jens Ismar, CEO at Western Bulk

Letter from Mr Jens Ismar, CEO

A warm welcome to 2017 
2016 was a year that both Western Bulk and the rest of the dry bulk shipping 
industry are very pleased to put behind us. The dry bulk shipping market had not 
seen such low rate levels in more than 30 years, a situation caused by the world 
fleet far outgrowing the demand for transportation services. Investments in new 
vessels, based on way too optimistic scenarios for demand growth, resulted in  
a huge oversupply of tonnage. With rates below vessels’ operating expenses  
for most of the year, 2016 has drained many shipowners and operators of cash, 
and made liquidity a scarce resource. Consequently, many companies have  
gone through recapitalizations, or some sort of restructuring action to survive  
the turmoil. 

As many others, Western Bulk has 
not been sheltered from the storm  
in this market turbulence. We had  
a challenging start to the year  
when the Group went through a 
restructuring. Following the 
restructuring and a subsequent 
recapitalization, Western Bulk 
Chartering AS is a stand-alone 
private company, owned by 
approximately 250 shareholders.  
The largest shareholder is the 
Kistefos Group, controlling  
approximately 74% of the  
outstanding shares. 

The Group remains true to its asset 
light business model, with strong 
risk management and control. Our 
team of over 100 skilled and capable 
employees, our brand, our business 
relationships as well as our systems 
remain our core assets. Seven 

business units take decentralized 
business decisions in their 
respective geographic areas, and 
ensure a worldwide market coverage 
for both our cargo customers and 
our tonnage providers. 

During the last quarter of 2016, we 
saw some early signs of market 
improvements, with some real 
volatility as the Atlantic market 
doubled, while the Pacific market 
remained flat. Although we expect 
that it will take some more time for 
the market to recover, we see this as 
a sign that we have now passed the 
bottom of this downturn. As a base 
case, we expect the recovery to be 
gradual and slow, but perhaps with 
increased volatility and short-lived 
pockets of stronger rates. With our 
business model and strengths, we 
should be able to create value on the 

back of a gradual recovery and 
increased volatility in the market.

Through this turbulent period, we are 
very pleased to have had good 
support from our core customers 
and other business relations around 
the world. With a restored balance 
sheet and the gradual improvement 
in our business and results, seen in 
the second half of 2016, we are all 
looking forward to 2017 with 
enthusiasm as all arrows are 
pointing in the right direction.

The Group remains 
true to its asset  
light business 
model

Letter from Mr Jens Ismar, CEO | Annual Report 2016 Annual Report 2016 | Letter from Mr Jens Ismar, CEO
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Main Development
The poor market conditions and 
the turmoil in the wake of the 
restructuring of the Group in 
February 2016, had a negative 
impact on the Group’s underlying 
trading performance with a 
disappointing Net TC result of just 
USD 4.4 million in 2016 compared 
to USD 44.5 million in 2015. The 
Group’s Net TC margin was USD 
96 per ship day in 2016, a 
decrease from USD 785 per ship 
day in 2015. The Group’s operated 
fleet declined from an average of 
155 vessels in 2015 to 125 vessels 
in 2016. The table below shows 
the development throughout the 
year for each quarter, with a 
particularly weak second quarter, 
and a gradual improvement in the 
second half (Fig 1):

Administration expenses declined 
from USD 35.4 million in 2015 to 
USD 23.5 million in 2016 due to 
reduced costs and a favourable 
development in the currency 
exchange rates between the USD 
and the two main currencies for 
administration expenses (Norwe-
gian Kroner and Singapore Dollar) 
from 2015 to 2016.

Impairments, provisions and 
write-offs (including direct losses 
incurred from the restructuring  
of the Group) amounted to a loss 
of USD 15.9 million in 2016, 
compared to a loss of USD 24.3 
million in 2015. The impairments, 
provisions and write-offs are 
considered as non-recurring 
one-offs.

As a consequence of the above 
key factors, the Group recorded a 
USD 36.9 million loss after tax in 
2016, compared to a USD 16.1 
million loss in 2015. 
 
Business Overview
The Group is a world-leading 
operator of dry bulk tonnage in  
the Supramax/Ultramax and 
Handysize vessel sizes. 

The Group combines operational 
expertise in dry bulk shipping with 
portfolio and risk management 
techniques and approaches 
adapted from the financial 
industry. Given the diversity and 
complexity of the markets in 
which the Group operates,  
it has chosen to build a flat and 
decentralized organizational  

structure where decision-making 
authority rests with its seven 
business units. An advanced risk 
control system and a risk 
management team monitor market 
and counterpart exposures of 
each business unit and on an 
aggregate level for the Group. 

The Group’s seven business units 
are located in our five offices in 
Oslo, Miami, Singapore, Seattle 
and Santiago de Chile. In addition, 
the Group opened an office  
in Casablanca during 2016, to 
support one of the business units 
located in Oslo. 

Market Development
The dry bulk shipping market 
continued to decline into the first 
quarter of 2016, as the increase in 
the world’s fleet again exceeded 
the demand growth. The Baltic 
Supramax Index (BSI) saw a steep 
decline from the end of 2015 and 
into 2016, but the rates bottomed 
out during Q1-16 and thereafter 
slowly increased throughout the 
year. Average rates were about 
USD 6 280 per day for 2016 
compared to an average of about 
USD 6 925 per day in 2015. The 

BSI ended 2016 at USD 9 445 per 
day. The volatility in rates stayed 
at low levels, but the basin 
differences increased between the 
Atlantic and Pacific in the second 
half, with Atlantic being signifi-
cantly stronger than Pacific.

Financial Performance for the 
Group
The Group’s turnover, expressed as 
gross freight revenues, declined 
from USD 990 million in 2015 to 
USD 631.9 million in 2016 (a 
decline of 36%). The lower gross 
revenue was mainly due to lower 
freight rates and the decreased 
average fleet size.

As discussed above, the Group’s 
result is strongly influenced by the 
restructuring of the Group and the 
weak market level in 2016, which 
caused the Net TC result to 
decline from USD 44.5 million in 
2015 to USD 4.4 million in 2016. 
The reduced administration 
expenses gave a positive effect, 

nevertheless, the Group’s EBITDA 
declined from USD 9.1 million in 
2015 to USD -19.2 million in 2016.

The Group recorded a net result 
after tax of USD -36.9 million in 
2016, compared to USD -16.1 
million in 2015, which in addition 
to the above changes, also was 
impacted by impairments, 
provisions and write-offs in both 
years, as discussed above.

To strengthen its cash position 
and balance sheet, the Group 
raised about USD 22 million as 
new equity during 2016 (plus an 
additional USD 18 million in March 
2017, see section “Subsequent 
events after 31.12.2016” below). 
The Group’s cash position was 
USD 33.0 million as of 31.12.2016, 
of which USD 6.3 million was 
restricted cash, compared to USD 
52.7 million and USD 6.4 million 
respectively as of 31.12.2015. The 
cash flow statement shows the 
variables impacting the cash 

position in 2016. The key drivers 
for changes in the cash position 
were negative cash flow from 
operations, due to negative 
EBITDA and an increase in working 
capital requirements, countered 
with positive cash flow from new 
equity raised during the year. In 
general, the working capital 
requirements depend on a number 
of factors such as size of the 
operated fleet, bunker prices, 
freight rates, trading pattern, mix 
of contract types for vessels and 
cargo and tends to fluctuate 
significantly. Increases in the fleet, 
market rates and bunker oil price 
usually increases the working 
capital needed for operations.

The balance sheet total was USD 
98.6 million at the end of 2016 
compared to USD 117.3 million the 
year before. The main change to 
the balance sheet from end of 
2015 to the end of 2016, is the 
NOK 300 million bond loan 
(non-current debt) which the 

Board of Directors’ Report 2016

2016 was a challenging year for Western Bulk Chartering AS and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), with financial restructuring and a historically weak market. This  
had in particular a negative effect in the first half of the year, while the gradually  
improved market conditions and a recapitalization of the Group gave a positive 
trend throughout the second half of the year.

The Group’s
result is strongly 
influenced by 
the restructuring 
of the Group and 
the weak market 
level in 2016

Q1-16 Q2-16 Q3-16 Q4-16 2016

Net TC result (USD mill) 6.7 -5.4 0.9 2.2 4.4

Average fleet size (vessels) 131 109 126 132 125

Net TC result per ship day (USD) 559 -543 78 178 96

* Fig 1

2.5
Fertilizer:

million 
tonnes

7
Agricultural 
products:

million 
tonnes

In 2016 Western Bulk carried 
7 million tons of agricultural 
products. This is the equiv-
alent of 125 fully loaded 
Supramax vessels.

In 2016 Western Bulk carried 
2.5 million tons of fertilizer. 
This is enough to fertilize an 
area the size of Uruguay.
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Group assumed the debtor 
position for from a related 
company in combination with the 
new equity being raised in 2016. 
The Group holds NOK 29 million of 
its own bonds in treasury, and 
presents the debt as a net amount 
in the balance sheet. Total 
liabilities amounted to USD 84.9 
million as of 31.12.2016 compared to 
USD 70.2 million as of 31.12.2015. 

The Group’s book equity totalled 
USD 13.8 million as of 31.12.2016, 
a decrease of USD 33.3 million 
from the 31.12.2015 position of 
USD 47.1 million. The book equity 
ratio was 14% as of 31.12.2016, 
compared to 40% as of 31.12.2015.

Financial Performance for the 
Parent Company
The Parent Company’s net loss for 
2016 ended at USD 2.1 million, 
compared to a loss of USD 20.0 
million in 2015. The result mainly 
consist of administrative expens-
es, interest expenses and currency 
gain/loss. The negative result in 
2015 was in particular impacted 
by a one-off write-down on shares 
in subsidiaries (USD 19.6 million in 
2015 vs USD 0.0 million in 2016) 

which explains most of the change 
in the net result from 2015 to 
2016. The Parent Company’s 
equity was USD 47.2 million as of 
31.12.2016, compared to USD 45.9 
million as of 31.12.2015. The 
change in equity can be explained 
by a combination of new equity 
raised, the net loss and that the 
Parent Company assumed the 
debtor position of a bond loan 
from a related company in 
combination with the new equity 
being raised in 2016. The Parent 
Company’s book equity ratio was 
51% as of 31.12.2016. The Parent
Company had a net positive cash
flow in 2016 of USD 3.3 million. 
The cash flow statement shows 
the main variables impacting the 
cash position in 2016. 

Going Concern
In accordance with §3-3a of the 
Norwegian Accounting Act, the 
Board confirms that the financial 
statements have been prepared 
under the assumption of going 
concern. The assumption is based 
on estimates and expectations for 
2017 and the Group’s long-term 
strategy. 

Subsequent events after 
31.12.2016
In March 2017, Western Bulk 
Chartering AS issued 4 616 766 
new shares, based on a resolution 
made in December 2016 and 
February 2017 to undertake a 
private placement directed at its 
largest existing shareholders. The 
transaction, which raised NOK 
154.2 million in gross proceeds 
(approx. USD 18 million), was 
guaranteed by the Company’s two 
largest shareholders (Kistefos AS 
and Ojada AS). USD 15 million of 
the transaction was resolved and 
with guarantees which were 
provided before year-end. On this 
basis, USD 15 million of the new 
equity and a corresponding 
receivable were recorded in the 
balance sheet as of 31.12.2016. 

Impact on the environment
The Group’s activities consist of 
chartering and operating dry bulk 
vessels for the transportation of 
products such as minerals, timber, 
cement, bauxite, steel products, 
grains, coal and more. The 
chartering and operation of 
chartered-in vessels fully complies 
with international rules and 
standards in the jurisdictions and 
sectors in which they operate.

Organization
The Group cares about people, 
human rights, labour rights, safety 
and welfare. The Group is actively 
working to reduce sick leave and 
improve its working environment. 
During the year, no serious 
accidents or injuries have been 
reported. Total sick leave in the 
Norwegian company was 0.77% 
(2015: 1.47%), divided into 0.77% 
short time absence, and 0.0% long 
time absence. 

The Group aims to be a company 
with full equality between men and 
women, and no discrimination 
based on disability, gender, race, 

ethnic or cultural background. As 
of 31.12.2016, 40 of the Group’s 
108 employees were women (37%).

Risk
The Group is exposed to a number 
of risks. In addition to the market 
risks associated with its chartering 
activity, the Group is also exposed 
to risks such as counterparty risk, 
credit risk, currency risk, operational 
risk and liquidity risk.

The Group operates with a clearly 
defined risk appetite and has 
implemented a comprehensive 
infrastructure of models, mea-
sures and internal control routines 
to mitigate risks or respond to 
risks to mitigate potential 
consequences. It has developed a 
strong risk management culture 
that emphasise risk awareness in 
all decisions. 

With a continued muted outlook 
for the dry bulk shipping market, 
the Board recognizes that 
counterparty risk is likely to 
continue at a high level and that 
unexpected changes to demand 

and supply may cause market 
rates to fluctuate significantly, at 
least on a relative basis. Although 
the Group has a diversified 
exposure to counterparties, 
well-managed market exposure 
and a wide geographical position-
ing, we anticipate that the Group 
will be affected by these external 
factors. The Board is of the 
opinion that the Group’s exposures 
to the different risks are satisfac-
torily monitored and that we will 
be able to contain the risk at 
acceptable levels, for customers 
as well as shareholders.

Geopolitical Risk
With a global trading pattern, the 
Group is exposed to geopolitical 
risk and instability that exist or may 
occur in parts of the world. The 
Group is paying close attention to 
concentration of geopolitical risks, 
and is targeting diversification to 
mitigate exposure that could 
potentially cause material effects 
to its results. 

3.3
Cement:

million 
tonnes

In 2016 Western Bulk carried 
3.3 million tons of clinker.  
This is enough to make over 
140 000 bags of cement.
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Market Risk
The Group has invested consider-
able resources in establishing and 
maintaining a risk control and 
monitoring system which on a 
daily basis quantifies the market 
exposure in the Group. This 
system allows the Group to 
measure risk and adjust its risk 
profile rapidly if required. The 
Group actively uses derivatives 
such as freight forward agree-
ments (FFA) , bunker swaps and 
other financial instruments to 
hedge its market exposure. The 
Group is not seeking to minimise 
the market risk, but rather to 
quantify and measure it to be able 
to take calculated positions in the 
market. The risk system sets 
absolute limits to the level of 
exposure taken by the Group. Such 
exposure may include being long/
short vessels relative to contract 
coverage, being long/short on 
geographical areas, vessel sizes 
and trade routes, utilising options 
on cargoes and vessels, and more, 
to take market rate exposures.

Operational Risk
The Group is exposed to various 
operational risks in conducting its 
business worldwide, with vessels 
sailing to and calling at ports in 
most areas of the world. Opera-
tional responsibility rests with the 
Group’s business units, as most 
operational risks are related to 
specific vessels, cargoes or 
markets. While single incidents 
mainly will have limited impact on 
the Group, the Group pays close 
attention to concentration of risks 
related to cargo type, geographical 
area and counterparties, targeting 
diversification to mitigate 
exposure that potentially could 
have material effect.

Financial Risk
The Group’s credit risk mainly 
relates to freight payable from our 
counterparts for voyages being 
performed. Such freight is mainly 
due at commencement of the 
voyage, and if not paid, the Group 
will in most cases have a lien on 
the cargo. As such, credit risk is 
manageable, and mainly related to 
potentially disputed parts of the 

amount invoiced such as laytime 
and demurrage upon discharge.

The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly 
related to timing of cash in- and 
outflows and the Group continu-
ously monitors its cash reserves 
and available liquidity to ensure 
sufficient liquidity is available to 
meet the known obligations of its 
operations, minimum liquidity 
covenants in financing agree-
ments, and to meet measured 
cash flow risks related to the use 
of derivatives for hedging 
purposes.

The Group is exposed to currency 
risk, mainly for expenses incurred 
in local currency other than US 
dollar and a NOK 300 million 
outstanding bond loan. The Group 
measures its currency risk 
applying sensitivity analysis. The 
Group has entered into a currency 
hedge to hedge the inherent 
currency risk from the bond loan’s 
principal amount in form of a 
currency option that kicks in if the 
NOK appreciates against the USD 
to an exchange rate level of 7.68 

or lower. The Group has also 
hedged the expected NOK 
denominated administrative 
expenses for 2017 by entering into 
NOK/USD currency forward 
contracts.

The Group is exposed to interest 
rate risk from its NOK 300 million 
bond loan. The interest rate risk is 
currently unhedged.

Future Development
The dry bulk market has been 
historically weak in 2016, but has 
improved from what appears to 
have been the low-point of this 
down-cycle in Q1-16. Although the 
delivery of new vessels is 
expected to slow down during 
2017, it is expected to take time 
for the market to recover, as the 
overcapacity will have to be 
digested by both transport 
demand growth as well as 
recycling of older tonnage. With 
this in mind, the market outlook is 
slightly on the positive side for 
2017 when comparing to 2016, but 
rates are still expected to be 
relatively low. As a reflection of 

this market situation, the Group 
continues to have high contract 
coverage for its chartered-in fleet 
to have protection against 
downside risk exposure if market 
rates continue at low levels or 
weakens. 

For 2017, the Group’s operated 
fleet is expected to continue 
around the same level as at the 
end of 2016 of about 130 vessels, 
or slightly higher. Based on the 
positive trend seen in second half 
of 2016, the Net TC margin is 
expected to improve in 2017, 
compared to 2016’s very weak 
levels, and the Group’s overall aim 
is to return to profits in 2017. 

Ownership Structure
As of 31.12.2016, Western Bulk 
Chartering AS is a privately owned 
company, with about 250 share  
holders. The Kistefos Group 
controls about 74% of the shares.

Result for the Year and Allocations
Western Bulk Chartering AS (Parent Company) recorded a loss after tax of USD 2 149 975 for 2016. The Board 
recommends the following covering of the year’s net loss:

From other paid-in equity USD -2 149 975
Total allocations USD -2 149 975
 

Oslo, 27. March, 2017

7.8
Coal

million 
tonnes

In 2016 Western Bulk carried 
7.8 million tons of coal.  
At least 40% of the world’s 
electricity comes from 
coal(IEA 2011). 7.8 million 
ton of coal can generate 19.3 
bn kWh, enough to power 1.7 
million average US homes for 
a year.

Jens Ismar
CEO

Bengt A. Rem 
Chairman of the Board

Erik Borgen 
Board member

Tord Meling 
Board member
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Our Business Units

SOUTH ATLANTIC CHILEPACIFIC INDIAN OCEANUS WEST COAST US GULF

NIKLAS SINDUM
Business Unit Manager

The South Atlantic business unit 
serves clients loading and/or 
discharging cargo on the Atlantic 
coasts of South America and 
Africa. Cargoes are carried on a 
trusted base of ships from our 
core owners and include both 
spot movements and industrial 
multi-year contracts. The 
business unit operates on 
average about 25-30 vessels.

In the spring of 2016, the South 
Atlantic BU opened an office in 
Casablanca, Morocco. The office 
supports our industrial clients on 
Africa’s Atlantic coast and 
positions the Group to take part 
in the phenomenal growth across 
the continent’s regions and 
sectors. The new office is based 
on our strong belief that local 
presence is the key to future 
trade with Africa.

The business unit aims to build 
on growing volumes with our 
industrial clients, provide 
personal service and attention on 
operational issues, and place the 
Group at the forefront of future 
trade opportunities. 

MARIUS HAUGLAND
Business Unit Manager

Western Bulk has been active in 
Chile since 1982. Our Santiago 
office was opened in 2006. Being 
one of our core areas since 
Western Bulk’s inception, the 
Chile operations have produced 
strong relationships with several 
major Chilean industrial 
companies.

The business unit operated on 
average about 10-15 vessels 
during 2016. In addition to the 
traditionally strong forestry and 
mineral segments, operations 
here include transportation of 
grains, coal, and cement clinker.
Geographically, with the time 
differences to Europe and the Far 
East, the Santiago office nicely 
complements our offices in Oslo, 
Singapore, Miami and Seattle to 
enable 24-hour accessibility to 
Western Bulk around the world.

ROB AARVOLD
Business Unit Manager

The Pacific business unit is run 
out of the Singapore office and 
operated a fleet of about 25-30 
vessels on average during 2016, 
ranging from Handysize to 
Ultramax.

The size and diversity of the 
Pacific basin demands the 
portfolio is not just active in the 
more established core trades but 
also in niche cargo flows 
throughout the region. The 
business unit is continuously 
striving to develop new working 
relationships, although the 
current customer base already 
necessitates exposure to most 
bulk commodities, the unit is 
considered more of a specialist 
in alumina, coal, fertilizer, grains, 
salt and sugar.

The huge intra and cross basin 
trades in the region necessitate 
the Pacific portfolio to work 
closely with all the other 
business units. The business unit 
also represents the Group 
towards vessel owners based in 
the Asia region for both spot and 
period employment.

LARS CHRISTIAN SVENSEN
Business Unit Manager

The US West Coast business 
unit’s office is located in Seattle, 
and has been in operation since 
1995 when Western Bulk 
acquired the Jebsen Bulk Pool.

Being geographically and 
strategically well placed in the 
busy Pacific Northwest, the 
Seattle office assures day-to-day 
contact with numerous 
industries, cargo owners, trading 
houses, and brokers in USA, 
Canada and Mexico.

The business unit operated about 
5-10 vessels during 2016. The 
Seattle office also looks after the 
day-to-day operations of all 
Group vessels calling the West 
coast from Panama to British 
Columbia/Alaska and Hawaii. 
Commodities carried are mainly 
steel products, grains, fertilizers, 
iron ore, coal and pet-coke.

VIVEK KUMAR
Business Unit Manager

The Indian Ocean business unit 
is based in the Singapore office 
and operated an average volume 
of about 15-20 vessels in the 
Handysize to Supramax segment 
during 2016.

Through its significant customer 
base, the business unit is active 
in most dry bulk commodities, 
but specializes in alumina, 
fertilizer, coal, petcoke and 
sulphur.

The business unit has a long-term 
industrial contract into the Red 
Sea, as well as other long-term 
clients that are serviced on short 
to medium term contracts or on a 
spot basis. Via joint setups with 
the other business units it is also 
involved in cross-basin trading, 
and thus linking the Singapore 
office nicely together with the 
other offices of the Group.

JAN CHRISTIAN TUNGLAND
Business Unit Manager

The Steel & Bulk / Continent - 
Mediterranean business unit 
focuses on developing long term 
industrial relationships with its 
customers through offering a 
service with high degree of 
flexibility and reliability.

The main activity is transport of 
various steel and bulk cargoes 
from Black Sea - Mediterranean 
and Continent - Baltic worldwide. 
The business unit is also active 
in trades to and from other 
destinations, partly on joint 
venture basis with the other 
business units in order to utilize 
the Group’s presence and market 
knowledge worldwide. 
Complementary activities include 
long period tonnage and 
industrial bulk COAs.

The Steel & Bulk / Cont - Med 
business unit is managed out of 
the Oslo office and operated on 
average about 20 vessels during 
2016.

DAVID SWINDOLL
Business Unit Manager

The US Gulf business unit’s office 
is located in Miami, Florida and 
serves a broad base of clients 
with diverse ocean transportation 
needs originating from the US 
Gulf and neighboring loading 
zones from East Coast Canada to 
North Coast South America. 

The business unit caters to 
customers prompt as well as 
deferred requirements loading 
coal, petcoke, wood pellets, 
alumina, iron ore, nickel ore, 
mineral concentrates, clinker, 
bauxite, fertilizers, sugar, salt, 
grains and byproducts on a 
regular basis on vessels from the 
Handysize to Panamax 
segments. The business unit, 
which was established in 2014, 
operated about 10-15 vessels
through 2016.

STEEL & BULK / CONTINENT – 
MEDITERRANEAN
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Mr Rem is the CEO of Kistefos AS. Prior to joining 
Kistefos AS in 2015, Bengt A. Rem was CEO in Arctic 
Partners. His previous experience includes Executive 
Vice President & CFO as well as other leading 
positions in the industrial investment company Aker 
ASA, Head of the Department Responsible for 
Financial Instruments on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
and state authorised accountant in Arthur Andersen 
& Co.

Mr Rem holds a Master of Science in Business and 
Administration and Finance from the Norwegian 
Business School (BI) and a Master in Accounting 
and Auditing from the Norwegian School of 
Economics and Business Administration (NHH).

He has been a board member in Western Bulk 
Chartering AS since 2016.

Mr Borgen is an Investment Director at Kistefos AS. 
Prior to joining Kistefos AS in 2016, Erik Borgen was 
a partner at the private equity firm HitecVision. His 
previous experience includes partner at Arctic 
Securities AS as well as other positions in leading 
global Investment Banking firms like Morgan Stanley 
and Perella Weinberg Partners.

He has previously engaged in projects and activities 
within the fields of mergers and acquisitions, debt 
capital markets, IPO’s and restructuring.

Mr. Borgen holds a Master of Science in Finance 
from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH).

He has been a board member in Western Bulk 
Chartering AS since 2016.

Mr. Meling is an Investment Director at Ojada AS, our 
second largest shareholder.

Mr. Meling has worked more than 10 years in the 
airline Norwegian, with experience in business 
development, aircraft financing and corporate 
finance. He also has experience from Deloitte.

Mr. Meling holds a Master of Science in Finance 
from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH).

He has been a board member in Western Bulk 
Chartering AS since December 2016.
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Profit and Loss Statement

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS - CONSOLIDATED GROUP

(USD 1 000) Note 2016 2015

Gross revenues 3  631 932  989 846 
Voyage expenses  -317 196  -467 814 
Freight revenues on T/C-basis 314 736 522 031

T/C expenses  -307 082  -474 346 
Other vessel expenses  -3 284  -3 197 
Administration expenses 8  -23 545  -35 388 
Operating expenses -333 911 -512 930

Depreciations 7  -309  -225 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets 7  -  1 
Provision for future loss 13  -5 200  -1 000 
Bad debt provision and write-offs 13 - 6 980 -
Operating profit  -31 663  7 877 

Net interest income  197  771 
Net interest expense  -1 319  -15 
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange  169  401 
Gain/(loss) on financial assets  -  3 
Other financial items  -422  152 
Bad debt provision and write-offs, financial items 13  -3 772  -23 331 
Net finance  -5 147  -22 020 

Profit/(loss) before tax  -36 810  -14 144 

Tax income/(expense) 9  -42  -1 934 
Profit/(loss) for the year  -36 852  -16 077 
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Balance Sheet

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS - CONSOLIDATED GROUP

(USD 1 000) Note 2016 2015

ASSETS
Non current assets
Deferred tax asset 9  1 442  726 
Intangible assets 7  659  861 
Property, plant and equipment 7  305  242 
Investment in financial assets  153  -  
Total non current assets  2 558  1 829 

Current assets 
Accounts receivable 12  15 365  24 326 
Receivables from related company 10  770  591 
Other receivables 14  17 349  2 097 
Prepaid cost 4  1 105  12 283 
Bunker stocks  28 506  23 519 
Bank deposits 11,12  32 969  52 685 
Total current assets  96 063  115 501 
TOTAL ASSETS  98 621  117 330 

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS - CONSOLIDATED GROUP

(USD 1 000) Note 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

SHAREHOLDERS` EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity
Paid-in capital
Share capital  68  35 
Share premium 20 933  24 983 
Other paid-in capital 11 241  11 165 
Resolved, but not yet paid-in capital increase  14 965 -
Total paid-in capital  47 207  36 183 

Retained earnings
Other equity / (uncovered loss)  - 33 457  10 957 
Total retained earnings - 33 457  10 957 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 14  13 750  47 139 

LIABILITIES
Long term liabilities
Deferred tax liability 9  376  434 
Pension liabilities 8  3 992  3 676 
Other long-term liabilities  487  1 100 
Interest-bearing debt 12  31 438  -  
Total long term liabilities  36 295  5 210 

Short term liabilities
Accounts payable  6 299  13 852 
Prepaid freight  -  10 085 
Prepaid income 5  5 898  - 
Taxes payable 9  764  1 614 
Accrued cost  26 430  29 802 
Liabilities to related company 10 734  375 
Other current liabilities 13  8 452  9 252 
Total short term liabilities  48 577  64 980 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  84 871  70 190 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS` EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  98 621  117 330 

Oslo, 27. March, 2017

Jens Ismar
CEO

Bengt A. Rem 
Chairman of the Board

Erik Borgen 
Board member

Tord Meling 
Board member
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Cash Flow Statement

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS - CONSOLIDATED GROUP

(USD 1 000) 2016 2015

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) before tax  -36 810 -14 144
Taxes paid  -1 735 -1 744
Depreciations  309 225
Writedown and provisions  15 952 24 331
Gain/(loss) disposal fixed assets  -  -1
Changes in current receivables and current liabilities -18 470 14 337
Net cash flow from/(to) operating activities  -40 754  23 005 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in fixed- and intangible assets -173 -802
Disposal of fixed assets 4 -
Investments in/ disposal of financial assets -153 -
Changes in long term receivables - 6
Net cash flow from investments -322  -796 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Group contribution paid - -3 868
Share capital increase, net of expenses 21 361 -
Changes in receivables from/liabilities to group companies - -22 825
Net cash flow from financing activities 21 361  -26 693 

Net change in liquidity during the year -19 715 -4 483

Liquid assets as of 01.01. 52 685 57 168
Liquid assets as of 31.12. 32 969 52 685

Restricted bank deposits as of 31.12. 6 299 6 373
Available liquid assets as of 31.12 26 669 46 313

Notes to the accounts

Note 1 – Accounting principles
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
Accounting Act of 1998 and generally accepted accounting 
principles in Norway. The main accounting principles are described 
below. Unless otherwise stated, all figures specified in the notes 
are quoted in US dollars (USD) 1 000. The annual accounts have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
Segment information 
The Group’s main activity is related to chartering and operation of 
vessels. 
 
Reporting currency and functional currency 
Both the parent company accounts and the consolidated accounts 
are reported in US dollars (USD). Group business activities are 
primarily denominated in USD. Based on historical figures for the 
Group, almost 100% of freight income, operating expenses for the 
vessels, bank deposits, receivables, accounts payable, and external 
financing (except for the bond loan) are denominated in USD. The 
consolidated accounts are presented in USD. 
 
Foreign currency 
Monetary items, receivables and liabilities in the balance sheet 
denominated in other currencies than USD are recorded at the year 
end exchange rates. Profit and loss items in foreign currency are 
recorded at exchange rates prevailing at the time of the transac-
tion. Both realized and unrealized gains and losses are 
included under financial items in the profit and loss statement. 
 
The following exchange rates have been used as of 31.12.2016: 
USD/NOK 8,62 
 
Consolidation principles 
Included in the Group is the parent company Western Bulk Charter-
ing AS (the “Company”) and companies where Western Bulk 
Chartering AS directly or indirectly has a majority of the voting 
capital. All intercompany balances and transactions between the 
companies have been eliminated in the consolidated accounts. 
 
The cost price of shares and partnership shares are eliminated 
against the equity in the underlying companies at the time of 
purchase. Any excess of purchase consideration over fair value of 
assets and liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is 
not amortized. The accounts of foreign subsidiaries are kept in 
USD as well as in a secondary currency. The Group’s consolidated 
accounts are prepared based on uniform accounting principles. 
 

Classification of assets and liabilities 
Current assets and current liabilities include items that fall due 
within one year as well as items associated with the business 
flows. Other items are defined as fixed assets/long term liabilities. 
 

Revenue recognition 
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, and are presented net of commissions. 
Revenues and expenses related to a vessel’s voyages are accrued 
based on the number of days before and after the end of each 
accounting period. A voyage is defined as starting after 
unloading the previous voyage (discharge-to-discharge). Hence the 
voyage result is also accrued with the inclusion of actual number 
of days resulting from the period of ballast, waiting for orders and 
loading the vessel. Although the Group has major freight contracts 
covering several accounting years, accounting is based on 
individual voyages. 
 
Dividends/group contributions are accounted for at the time when 
such dividend/group contribution is received. However, when the 
Group has a controlling interest, dividend/group contribution is 
accounted for, then provisions are made in the contributing 
company. 
 
Use of estimates 
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the 
company’s management must make estimates and assumptions 
that influence the value of assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet and the amount of revenues and expenses included in the 
accounts during the accounting period. The actual figures may 
vary from these estimates. 
 
When preparing the accounts, best estimates are used based on 
information available at the time the accounts are prepared. 
 
Intangible assets 
Costs for intangible assets are reflected in the balance sheet 
providing a future financial benefit relating to the development of 
an identifiable intangible asset can be identified, and the expenses 
can be reliably measured. Otherwise such expenses are expensed 
as and when incurred. Software expenses are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the asset’s expected useful life. Expenses 
related to ordinary maintenance are expensed when incurred. 
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Gains/losses from sale of intangible assets are shown on a 
separate line under operating expenses. 
 
Fixed assets 
Fixed assets are included in the balance sheet at cost less ordinary 
depreciation and impairment. The straight-line method for 
calculating ordinary depreciation for the year has been applied. 
Fixed assets are depreciated over the expected economic life of 
the assets. Expenses related to ordinary maintenance are 
expensed when incurred. 
 
Gains/losses from sale of fixed assets are shown on a separate 
line under operating expenses. 
 
Impairment of intangible and fixed assets 
Impairment is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount unless the 
reduction in value is temporary. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of net sales value and net present value of future cash 
flows. 
 
Leases 
The Group differentiates between financial leasing and operational 
leasing based on an evaluation of the lease contract at the time of 
inception. A lease contract is classified as a financial lease when 
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified 
as operational leases. When a lease contract is classified as a 
financial lease where the Group is the lessee, the rights and 
obligations relating to the leasing contracts are recognized in the 
balance sheet as assets and liabilities. The interest element in the 
lease payment is included in the interest costs and the capital 
amount of the lease payment is recorded as repayment of debt. 
The lease liability is the remaining part of the principal. For
operational leases, the rental amount is recorded as an ordinary 
operating cost. 
 
Both in 2016 and 2015, all of the Group’s leases were classified  
as operational leases. 
 
Bunkers, other inventory, and receivables 
Inventories are valued at the lower of historical cost price 
according to the “first in first out” principle and estimated market 
value. Receivables are recorded at nominal value less expected 
losses. 

Financial investments
Financial investments classified as current assets are recorded  
at the lower of cost price or market value. 
 

Pensions 
The Group has defined benefit plans and defined contribution 
plans. For defined contribution plans the annual contribution is 
expensed, and there is no pension asset or liability recognized in 
the balance sheet. 
 
For defined benefit plans, the annual pension expense is calculated 
based on actuarial estimates, including the premium paid during 
the year, and a pension asset or liability is recognized in the 
balance sheet based on the actuarial reports. The defined benefit 
asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligations are to be settled. 
 
Taxes 
The tax expense in the profit and loss accounts includes both 
taxes payable for the period and changes in deferred taxes. The 
change in deferred tax reflects changes in future tax liabilities and 
assets as a result of timing differences between the tax and the 
accounts. Deferred tax is the tax that relates to the accumulated 
result, but is paid in a subsequent period. Deferred tax/deferred tax 
assets have been calculated on net positive temporary differences 
between accounting and tax-based balance sheet values and 
which are reversed within a reasonable period of time together 
with the deferred tax asset related to tax losses carried forward. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets within the same tax 
system are recorded on a net basis. Deferred tax asset is recorded 
only if the future utilization is probable. 
 
Contingent loss/gain 
Provisions have been made for contingent losses that are likely 
and quantifiable. Contingent gains are not recorded. 
 
Financial instruments and hedge accounting 
The Group has defined a hedging strategy and applies financial 
instruments such as freight derivatives, bunker derivatives and 
currency derivatives to hedge future results. In accordance with 
the Norwegian Accounting Act §4-1 no. 5, profit/ (loss) on hedging 
contracts are recognized in the same period as the profit/ (loss) 
related to the hedged object is recognized for all derivatives 
entered into as part of the hedging policy. The Group has classified 
the hedges as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. The 
market values of the derivatives are kept off-balance until realized. 
Option premiums paid/received and for any cleared derivatives the 
settlements paid or received are recognized as current assets and 
liabilities respectively, until maturity of the derivative when gain/
loss is recognized in the profit and loss statement or whenever the 
assets are considered impaired. 
 

Impairment is recognized for the amount by which the mark-to-
market value of the Group’s total contract portfolio (TCs, COAs, 
FFAs and bunker hedges) is negative. If the negative amount 
exceeds the assets related to the portfolio, including any prepaid 
amounts for derivatives, an accrual for the liabilities is made. 
 
Profit and loss from derivatives is classified as T/C expenses for 
freight derivatives, Voyage expenses for bunker derivatives and as 
part of the administration expenses for currency derivatives 
serving as currency hedge for administration expenses in other 
currencies than USD. 
 
The Group also holds a currency option that hedges a part of the 
currency risk associated with its outstanding bond loan, which is 
denominated in NOK. This derivative is classfied as a fair value 
hedge, and is recognized in the balance sheet with its fair value at 
balance sheet date. Changes in its fair value is recognized in the 
profit and loss statement as gain or loss on foreign exchange 
 
Cash flow statements 
The cash flow statements are based on the indirect method. 
Restricted bank deposits are recorded as cash equivalents. Shares 
are considered to have a high price risk and are not classified  
as cash equivalents. 
 
Subsequent events
New information related to events that existed on the balance 
sheet date has been included in the estimates. Important events 
taking place after the balance sheet date are described in the 
notes.

Changes in accounting principles
There are no material changes in the accounting principles for the 
periods presented. 

Note 2 – Risk factors   
The Group is exposed to a number of risks affecting its financial 
performance. The risk management team identifies and measures 
potential risks and implement the risk management policies set by 
the Board of Directors.   

Dry bulk freight market
The Group is exposed to the global market for dry bulk freight, and 
its result will vary with freight rates, depending on its positioning in 
the market. The Group may at times have a surplus or a shortage 
of chartered tonnage, relative to its cargo commitments. In 
addition, the Group utilizes freight derivatives to hedge or adjust its 
exposures in the physical freight market. Its net position will 
generally be non-zero, and as a consequence it is exposed to 
changes in freight rates for the net surplus/shortage of vessels.    

Operational risk
The Group is exposed to its ability to maintain a high utilization 
rate for its fleet and the ability to operate the vessels in the most 
efficient and economical manner. This depends on the skills of its 
chartering and operations personnel, as well as the general 
conditions in the freight market. The Group has credit and 
counterpart risk related to its business activity, and has well-estab-
lished policies for monitoring counterparty approval and for 
monitoring counterparties’ performance. The procedure for 
approval of counterparts is based on both external rating services 
and internal investigations. The Group’s credit risk mainly relates 
to freight payable from our counterparts for voyages being 
performed. Such freight is mainly due at commencement of the 
voyage, and if not paid, the Group will in most cases have a lien on 
the cargo. As such, credit risk is manageable, and mainly related to 
potentially disputed parts of the amount invoiced such as laytime 
and demurrage upon discharge. 

Bunker prices
Fluctuations in fuel oil prices is another substantial risk for the 
Group, as fuel costs constitute a significant part of voyage costs. 
Exposures are created when future freight rates are set without 
indexation to fuel oil prices. The Group hedges its exposures in the 
energy market using fuel oil swaps and options or similar 
products.    
   
Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
The Group’s business operations are mainly USD denominated, 
and the functional currency is USD. However, the Group has a 
foreign exchange exposure related to administrative costs at its 
offices worldwide denominated in other currencies than USD, and 
an outstanding bond loan denominated in NOK. The exposures are 
hedged according to the Group’s hedging policy. 

Liquidity and cash flow risk
The Group monitors its cash reserves and available liquidity at all 
times to ensure sufficient liquidity to meet known obligations of its 
operations, minimum liquidity covenants in financing agreements, 
and to meet measured cash flow risks related to the use of 
derivatives for hedging purposes.   
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Note 3 – Revenues

(USD million) 2016 2015

BY BUSINESS AREA
Chartering and Operation 632 990
Total 632 990

GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION
Switzerland 86 112
Singapore 79 158
U.S.A. 56 106
Chile 24 43
France 23 30
U.A.E. 21 34
U.K. 20 30
Morocco 17 18
Hong Kong 16 34
Netherlands 14 11
Curacao 13 4
Japan 12 26
South Africa 12 15
India 12 14
Turkey 11 31
Panama 11 16
Qatar 10 24
Germany 9 11
Mexico 9 9
Belarus 9 9
Other 169 255
Total 632 990

The geographical distribution of revenues has been based on the customer’s (charterer’s) location.      
    
Note 4 – Financial instruments
    
Bunkers instruments
The Group hedges its bunkers exposure related to freight contracts. The mark-to-market value of the hedging contracts as of 31.12.2016 
amounted to USD 4.4 million.   

(USD million) Market value
Bunker hedges (swaps and options) maturing in 2017 3,8 
Bunker hedges (swaps and options) maturing in 2018 0,6 
Total 4,4

    
  

Freight instruments
As of 31.12.2016 the Group had entered into FFA contracts (forward freight agreements) and freight options for the period 2017–2019. 
The mark-to-market value of the hedging contracts as of 31.12.2016 amounted to USD 1.6 million. 

(USD million) Market value
FFA (forward freight agreements incl. options) maturing in 2017  1,0 
FFA (forward freight agreements incl. options) maturing in 2018  0,6 
Total  1,6 

FX-hedge for G&A expenses
As of 31.12.2016 the Group has hedged its NOK G&A requirements for 2017 with forward currency contracts. The fair value of these 
derivatives as of 31.12.2016 amounted to USD -0.5 million.     

FX-hedge for the principal amount of the bond loan   
The currency risk associated with this bond loan is currently unhedged, except for a currency option capping the down-side risk of the 
principal amount if the NOK appreciates against the USD to an exchange rate level of 7.68 or lower. The fair value of this derivative as of 
31.12.2016 amounted to USD 1.1 million.   
    
Note 5 – Prepaid income/cost
    
Prepaid income/cost is related to cleared FFA/Bunker hedge contracts. Prepaid cost amounts to USD 5.9 million as of 31.12.2016. 

(USD million) Book value
Cleared FFA/ Bunker hedge contracts maturing in 2017  4,8 
Cleared FFA/ Bunker hedge contracts maturing in 2018  1,2 
Cleared FFA/ Bunker hedge contracts maturing in 2019  -0,0 
Total  5,9 

      

Note 6 – Shares in subsidiaries 
    

Ownership share/
voting share

Business
office Currency

Share
capital

Western Bulk Management AS 100,0 % Oslo NOK 1 500 000
Western Bulk Carriers AS 100,0 % Oslo NOK 300 000
Western Bulk Pte Ltd 100,0 % Singapore USD 37 500 001
Western Bulk Carriers KS 100,0 % Oslo NOK 34 160 000
Western Bulk Carriers (Seattle) Inc. 100,0 % Seattle USD 100
Western Bulk Carriers (Miami) Inc. 100,0 % Miami USD 10
Western Bulk Carriers (Switzerland) SA 100,0 % Bulle CHF 20 000
Western Bulk Carriers (Sweden) AB 100,0 % Lerum SEK 50 000
Western Bulk (Chile) Ltda 100,0 % Santiago CLP 26 882 500
WBC I AS 100,0 % Oslo NOK 200 000
WBC V AS 100,0 % Oslo NOK 200 000
WBC VI AS 100,0 % Oslo NOK 100 000
Western Bulk Carriers, GBMH (in liquidation) 100,0 % Hamburg EUR  - 
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Note 7 – Fixed- and intangible assets
    

(USD 1 000) Grabs Intangible Other Total
Acquisition cost as of 01.01.2016  117  1 163  3 540  4 819 
Additions during the year  15  -  158  173 
Disposals during the year  -  -4  -4 
Acquisition cost as of 31.12.2016  132  1 163  3 694  4 988 
Accumulated depreciation as of 01.01.2016  117  302  3 298  3 717 
Depreciation for the year  -  202  107  309 
Disposals  -  -  - 
Accumulated depreciation as of 31.12.2016  117  504  3 405  4 026 

Book value as of 31.12.2016  15  658  289  963 
Economic life time 5 year 5 year 5 year

 Other fixed assets is mainly related to office equipment.   

Note 8 – Administrative expenses

(USD 1 000) 2016 2015
Salaries (incl. bonuses) 11 846 20 844
Employer's part of social security 1 285 1 482
Pension expenses, contribution plans 456 426
Pension expenses, benefit plans 674 76
Other benefits 1 451 1 504
Total salaries and social expenses 15 712 24 331
Other administrative expenses 7 833 11 057
Total 23 545 35 388

Persons employed (average for the year) 104 114

A bonus scheme has been established for the employees, based on financial results and other criteria.  

Remuneration to the CEO

Jens Ismar, CEO
(USD 1 000) 2016 2015
Salary  543  566 
Bonus paid  202  - 
Other remuneration  48  50 
Total remuneration  793  616 
Pension premium/cost  211  216 

   
The CEO is entitled to 18 months’ severance pay if he is released from his position by the Board. The CEO has the right to retire at the age 
of 62, receiving 66 % of his salary as pension until the age of 67. From the age of 67, the ordinary pension scheme applies.

Auitor fees

Fees to the auditor consist of the following services (USD 1 000) 2016 2015
Statutory audit 79 97
Tax advice 4 6
Other services outside the audit scope 45 14
Total 128 117

Pensions
The Group has several pension schemes for the employees, both contribution plans and defined benefit plans. The pension schemes 
satisfy the respective statutory pension schemes.   

Pension cost recognized in income statement (USD 1 000) 2016 2015
Defined contribution plans - expense 456 426
Defined benefits plan - expense 806 948
Defined benefits plan - remeasurements -132 -872
Total  1 130  502 

Remuneration to the Board of Directors and CEO

The Board of Directors have not received any remuneration

Principles for determination of compensation and option 
program for executive management  

The focus of the Company is to hire qualified managers and to pay 
according to the market. Salary and remuneration of the CEO is 
determined by the Board of Directors, and payment to other 
employees is determined by the CEO. The CFO, the CRO and the 
CPO (from 1.7.2016) are defined as the other members of the 
executive management. The executive management, including the 
CEO principally have four payment components: 
1. Fixed salary   
2. Pension scheme   
3. Bonus payments (cash) based on financial results 
4. Other benefits   

Fixed salary and pension scheme for the executive management, 
including the CEO, are on commercial terms and conditions.

The executive management, including the CEO, also have a bonus 
incentive scheme after which they receive a bonus payment in 
cash on the basis of the financial results in the Group before 
bonus- and tax payments for the previous financial year. 

The members of the executive management have ordinary 
benefits in kind such as free use of phone, newspaper subscrip-
tions, ordinary pension contributions, life insurance and health 
insurance. In addition the CEO has a company car. As a guideline, 
the Company shall not agree to severance pay for members of 
executive management unless to the extent required under 
applicable law or required for the Company to secure the 
necessary expertise and takes place in accordance with the 
fundamental principle for the Company’s salary policy for 
management as stated above.   

Details of the defined benefit plan, including cost and assets/
liabilities   
The defined benefit plans are set up with a life insurance company 
to provide pension benefits for its employees. The scheme 
provides entitlement to benefits based on future service from the 
commencement date of the scheme. These benefits are principally 
dependent on an employees pension qualifying period, salary at 
retirement age and the size of benefits from the National Insurance 
Scheme. Main terms are that the employee after 30 years of 
service is entitled to 66 % pension of the pension base salary at 1st 
of January in the year of retirement. For the secured benefit plan, 
the pension base salary is limited to 12 times the National 
Insurance Scheme’s basic amount (G). The Group’s unsecured 
benefit plan covers pensions for employees with salaries exceed-
ing 12G. The scheme also includes entitlement to disability, 
spouse’s and children’s pensions. The retirement age under the 
scheme is aged 67 years.   

The Group may at any time make alterations to the terms and 
conditions of the pension scheme and undertake that they will 
inform the employees of any such changes. The benefits accruing 
under the scheme are funded obligations.   

As of 31.12.2016 there were 30 (34 as of 31.12.2015) employees in 
the defined benefit pension scheme, of which 11 (11 as of 
31.12.2015) received pensions.  

All pension schemes are valued in accordance with the IFRS (IAS 
19R). Changes in the pension obligations as a result of changes in 
the actuarial assumptions and variations between actual and 
anticipated return on pension funds, are included in the result of 
the current period. 

Assumptions used in the actuarial calculations  The calculation of 
pension liabilities involves the use of judgement and estimates 
across a range of parameters. The discount rate is set at 2.6 % for 
Norwegian pension schemes and is based on high quality 
corporate bonds (OMF).   

The calculations are based on standard assumptions regarding 
mortality (K2015) and disability rates (KU), together with other 
demographic factors, which are prepared by Finance Norway 
(FNO).   
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When calculating future pensions for the defined benefit plans the following main assumptions have been made:  

2016 2015
Discount rate (OMF) 2,60 % 2,70 %
Expected return on plan assets 2,60 % 2,70 %
Expected rate of compensation increase 2,50 % 2,50 %
Expected increase of social security base amount (G) 2,25 % 2,25 %
Expected rate of pension increase 0,00 % 0,00 %

The discount rate appplied as of year-end 2016 is determined by reference to the market yield on covered bonds, plus an addition that 
takes into account the relevant duration of the pension commitments. Covered bonds are considered as high quality corporate bonds 
based on recent market developments.   

Net pension expense for the defined benefit plan

(USD 1 000) 2016 2015
Current service cost  618  748 
Interest cost  86  80 
Administration cost  3  3 
Payroll tax  99  117 
Pension expense, before remeasurements  806  948 

Net pension obligation in the balance sheet (As of 31.12.) 

Secured Non-secured Total
(USD 1 000) 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Net defined benefit obligation (asset)  609  723  2 890  2 500  3 500  3 223 
Payroll tax  86  102  407  352  493  454 
Obligation in financial statement  695  825  3 297  2 851  3 992  3 676 

Change in benefit obligation (USD 1 000)
Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of year  4 170  4 386  2 549  2 284  6 719  6 670 
Service cost  299  343  373  405  672  748 
Interest cost  112  100  69  52  181  153 
Past service cost -332 -  -  -  -332 -
Remeasurements  -519  -687  -100  -232  -619  -919 
Benefits paid  -60  -62  -  -10  -60  -72 
Defined benefit obligation at end of year  3 669  4 080  2 891  2 500  6 560  6 580 

Change in plan assets (USD 1 000)
Plan assets at beginning of year  3 431  3 070  -  -  3 431  3 070 
Interest income on plan assets  95  73  -  -  95  73 
Remeasurements  -487  -47  -  -  -487  -47 
Past service cost  -279  -  -  -  -279  - 
Contribution  395  358  -  -  395  358 
Administrative expenses  -35  -34  -  -  -35  -34 
Benefits paid  -60  -62  -  -  -60  -62 
Plan assets at end of year  3 060  3 357  -  -  3 060  3 357 

Note 9 - Tax 
(USD 1 000) 2016 2015
The tax expense for the year consists of:
Taxes payable 140 1 128
Tonnage tax 667 720
Correction for previous years tax provisions  1 -24
Changes in deferred tax -766 109
Total tax expense/(income) 42 1 934

Deferred tax relates to the following temporary differences:
Fixed assets -136 -178
Pensions -3 988 -3 671
Current assets  -523  - 
Accruals and provisions  -  - 
Gain/(loss) account for deferral 2 441 2 986
Tax losses carried forward -2 964 -278
Finance loss carried forward -677  - 
Total temporary differences -5 847 -1 141

Deferred tax liability/(asset), net -1 403 -292
Deferred tax asset not recognized in the balance sheet 338  - 
Deferred tax liability, gross 376 434
Deferred tax asset, gross 1 442 726

    
Deferred tax liability is related to the tonnage tax system and cannot be off-set with the deferred tax asset from ordinary taxation.     
The deferred tax is calculated with 24% tax rate in 2016, and 25% tax rate in 2015 due to changes in the applicable rate.
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(USD 1 000) 2016 2015
Profit before tax -36 810 -14 144
Total tax expense/(income) 42 1 934
Effective tax rate 0 % -14 %

Calculated tax expense at 25% tax rate (27% in 2015)  -9 203  -3 819 
Non-deductible expenses:

Writedown financial assets  5  2 596 
Bad debt provision within ordinary taxation  2 538  2 862 
Other non deductable costs  179  103 

Deductible expenses netted with equity increase:
Cost related to share capital increase  -130  - 

Non-taxable income:
Tax exempt dividends received  -  -34 

Difference in pre-tax profit/(loss) between functional currency and NOK and taxable income 
within tonnage tax system

 
5 985  -372 

Tax not related to result:
Tonnage tax  667  720 

Other tax effects:
Utilization of tax loss carried forward  -  -98 
Correction for previous years tax provisions  1  -24 

Total tax expense/(income)  42  1 934 
   

(USD 1 000) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015
Unrestricted bank deposits  26 669 46 312
Restricted bank deposits  6 299 6 373
Total bank deposits  32 969 52 685

Reference is made to note 12 about pledge over unrestricted bank accounts. 

Analysis of the effective tax rate of the Group   
The parent company Western Bulk Chartering AS is resident in 
Norway, where the corporate tax rate is 25%, while other parts of 
the Group are taxed in other jurisdictions. This analysis explains 

the main reasons for the effective tax rate of the Group differing 
from 25 %.   

Note 10 – Related parties 

Related parties
Reference is made to the annual report 2015, note 11 for  
information about transactions with related parties in 2015.    
The Group’s ownership was changed in February 2016, and as of 
31.12.2016, the main shareholder is Kistefos AS, controlling about 
74% of the shares of the Western Bulk Chartering AS through two 
of its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Group regards Kistefos and 
its subsidiaries as related parties and specifies the following 
transactions with these during 2016: 

During 2016, the Group has had the following transactions with
Kistefos AS and Kistefos Equity Operations AS.
   
Kistefos AS:   
a.  Kistefos AS has provided a parent company guarantee for the 

Group’s USD 6 million bank credit line in June 2016. Kistefos AS 
will receive a 2.5% p.a. guarantee fee, which will be paid in 2017. 

b.  Kistefos AS provided a NOK 83.5 million pre-subscription 
commitment in relation to Western Bulk Chartering AS’s  
private placement in June 2016 and received a pre-subscription 
commission amounting to NOK 2.1 million. The amount  
will be paid in 2017. 

c.  Kistefos AS has provided a parent company guarantees for  
two cargo contracts entered into by the Group. The guarantees  
 

 

expired on 31.12.2016. Kistefos AS will receive a guarantee fee of 
USD 0.04 million, which will be paid in 2017.    

d.  Kistefos AS provided a NOK 118.5 million pre-subscription 
commitment in relation to Western Bulk Chartering AS’s 
contemplated private placement in Q1-17 and will receive a 
pre-subscription commission amounting to NOK 3.0 million  
for this in 2017. 

e.  As of 31.12.2016, the total accrued liability amount to Kistefos 
AS (guarantee fees and pre-subscription commission), was  
USD 0.7 million.   

Kistefos Equity Operations AS:  
a.  Western Bulk Chartering AS has assumed the debtor position of 

the outstanding bond loan (NOK 300 million) and the bonds held 
in treasury (NOK 29 million) previously issued/held by Kistefos 
Equity Operations including accrued interests. The change of 
debtor position was carried out as an equity transaction, 
reducing the equity of Western Bulk Chartering AS, and was 
combined with a simultaneous equity increase in Western Bulk 
Chartering AS. 

b.  Western Bulk Chartering AS has provided a loan to Kistefos 
Equity Operations AS. As of 31.12.2016 the outstanding 
receivable amount was: USD 0.8 million. The receivable will be 
settled in 2017. 

Note 12 – Interest-bearing debt

Bond loan   
The Group has an outstanding bond loan of NOK 300 mill, 
maturing in full in April 2019. Interest is charged with 3mNibor 
+6,75%, payable on quarterly basis. The Group owns NOK 29 mill 
of the outstanding bond loan, which is presented net in the 
balance sheet Reference is made to note 4 regarding the hedge 
of the currency exposure related to the net outstanding principal 
amount.   

Bank credit line
The Group has a bank credit line of USD 6 mill, which was 
undrawn at 31.12.2016. The credit line is subject to annual 
renewals in June every year.

Financial covenants 
The bond loan and the bank credit line is subject to certain 
financial covenants. Some of these will only apply from 1 January 
2018, and the Group was in compliance with all of its applicable 
financial covenants as of 31.12.2016. 

Security and pledges provided 
The Group has provided a pledge of accounts receivables and 
certain unrestricted bank accounts as security for the bank credit 
line. The security provided is limited to a maximum of USD 8 
million.    

Note 13 – Contingencies and provisions

Provisions for disputes   
The Group is involved in several disputes, including lawsuits, both 
as defendant and plaintiff. Based upon the Group’s own views as 
well as opinions received from lawyers, provisions based on best 
estimate have been made in respect of the Group’s total 
exposure. The actual outcomes of these disputes are unknown, 
and it could take several years before the disputes and claims are 
finally settled. Consequently, there are uncertainties related to the 
estimates for provisions, which, depending on the outcome of 
each case, could prove to be insufficient to cover potential 
liabilities. 

Due to ongoing disputes, the Group chooses not to disclose 
details of accruals. The total amount provided for where the 
Group has uninsured exposure in litigation is USD 2.3 million as 
of 31.12.2016 compared to USD 1.3 million as of 31.12.2015.   

Write-offs and losses
The Group has made write-offs and incurred losses related to 
defaulting counterparties and aged receivables amounting to 
USD 10.8 million in 2016. In 2015 the corresponding amount  
was USD 23.3 million. Nearly all of these losses are related to 
transactions with the previous parent company (and its  
subsidiaries) of the Group and were incurred before the  
restructuring of the Group in February 2016.   
   

Impairment provisions
As of 31.12.2015 the Group made a USD 1 million loss provision 
for negative value of its overall forward book of contracts, based 
on an overall valuation of all contracts. This provision was 
reversed in Q1-16, as the value of the forward book of contracts 
increased after year-end. 

As of 31.12.2016, the overall forward book of contracts has a 
positive value, and no general provision for future loss is made. 
However, a provision of USD 6.2 million has been made to cover 
expected losses related to certain contracts that are considered 
on an isolated basis from the overall forward book of contracts. 
These isolated contracts relate to activities closed down and 
restructured contracts. About 4.6 million of the provision relates 
to estimated negative value for 2017, and the remaining amount 
mainly relates to 2018. The estimated negative value of these 
contracts is based on the forward market rates given by the FFA 
market for the relevant period, with the following details:

Note 11 – Bank deposits

As of 31.12.2016, USD 3.9 million of the restricted deposits was 
tied to deposits in favor of clearing houses. USD 0.4 million was 
pledged in favor of a bank for guarantees issued on behalf of the  

Group, USD 0.2 million was taxes withheld from employees,  
USD 0.4 million was security provided for office premises rental 
and USD 1.3 million was pledged to secure pension commitments.



3534

Annual Report 2016 | Notes to the accountsNotes to the accounts | Annual Report 2016

Note 14 – Equity, number of shares and shareholders    

(USD 1 000)
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Other 
paid-in 
equity

Resolved
but not yet 

paid-in capital 
increase

Other equity / 
(uncovered 

loss) Total

Equity as of 31.12.2015 35 24 983 11 165 - 10 957 47 139
Share capital increase, net  33  20 933  -   14 965  -  35 931
Bond loan transfer (see note 10)  -24 983  -7 496 -32 479
Other  -  - 10 10
Profit/(loss) for the year  -  -  7 572  -44 424 -36 852
Equity as of 31.12.2016 68 20 933 11 241 14 965 - 33 457 13 750

(1) The equity amount as of 31.12.2016 includes USD 15 million related to the private placement which was completed in March 2017 
(reference to note 17). This equals the minimum amount which was guaranteed prior to year-end by the two largest shareholders.  
The corresponding receivable for the subscription amount is included as Other receivables at the balance sheet date.   

Share capital
Nominal value per share NOK  0,05 
Registered share capital 31.12.2016 NOK 476 443
Registered share capital 31.12.2016, in USD USD 67 546
Total number of shares issued as of 31.12.2016 9 528 868

2017 2018 2019 2020 Beyond Total
Nominal Hire Commitment (USD 1 000)  76 262  16 108  3 687  -   -   96 057 
Vessel Hire Days  8 199  1 831  383  -   -   10 413 
Average Rate USD/day  9 301  8 798  9 626 n.a. n.a.  9 225 
Vessel Equivalent/year (firm period)  22  5  1 n.a. n.a.  n.a. 

< 30 days 1-3 months > 3 months Total
Nominal Hire Receivable (USD 1 000)  8 239  3 053  239  11 531 
Vessel Days  764  298  23  1 084 
Average Rate (USD/Day)  10 788  10 260  10 450  10 637 

Note 15 – Estimates

Due to the fact that a number of voyage related expenses are 
received well after a voyage has been completed, expenses are 
estimated until final invoices are received. As the accounts are 
based on a number of estimates, the 2016 profit and loss 
statement has been negatively impacted by USD 2.5 million 

due to the difference between estimated and actual expenses and 
provisions related to prior period voyages. The 2015 profit and loss 
statement had a positive adjustment of USD 4.4 million for prior 
period voyages. 

Note 16 – Leasing and other commitments

TC Contracts – Group as lessee  
Vessels chartered in on time charter for a period represents a 
commitment to pay hire. The minimal nominal hire payable 
represents a lease commitment of USD 96.1 million exclusive of 
optional periods. For vessels chartered in on floating rates, an 
estimate has been applied for the hire commitment. 

Charter coverage: For 2017 approximately 21 vessels out of a  
fleet of 22 vessels have employment with existing cargo contracts 
or have been relet on timecharter, while for the period 2018-2019, 
approximately 3 to 0 vessels of a fleet of 5 to 1 have firm  
employment.   

TC contracts – Group as a lessor  
Ten vessels are chartered out on TC-contracts lasting between  
30 and 90 days as of 31.12.2016. These non-cancellable operating 
leases have terms of renewal but no purchase options or escala-

tion clauses. Future minimum rentals receivable under these 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Leasing of offices
The Group leases office premises in Norway, USA, Singapore, Chile 
and Morocco and total annual lease commitments amounts to 
approximately USD 1.6 million.      
  

The lease contracts expires in the period January 2018 to March 
2021.      
      

Note 17 – Subsequent events  

In March 2017, Western Bulk Chartering AS completed a share 
capital increase, issuing 4 616 766 new shares with a gross 
proceed of about USD 18 million.    

The transaction was fully guaranteed by the two largest share-
holders, Kistefos AS and Ojada AS. USD 15 million of the trans-
action was recognized in the balance sheet as of 31.12.2016 
(reference to note 14).   

Note 13 continues

Details of provision as of 31.12.2016 (USD million) 2017 2018 and later Total
Closed down activities

Cancellation fee for one chartered-in vessel and locked-in losses between 
charter-in rate and charter-out rate for one vessel 1.9 - 1.9

Restructured contracts

Locked-in losses between charter-in rate and charter-out rate or FFA 
hedges for three vessels 2.3 1.2 3.5

Cancellation fee for two chartered-in vessels 0.4 0.3 0.7
Total 4.6 1.5 6.2

Dividend restriction
Western Bulk Chartering AS is restricted by its loan agreements, which prohibits dividend payments unless pre-approved by the lenders.
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Profit and Loss Statement 

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS – PARENT COMPANY

(USD) Note 2016 2015

Other operating revenue  259 646  450 709 
Administration expenses 2,3  -386 138  -312 515 
Operating profit/(loss)  -126 492  138 194 

Net interest income  312 834  146 027 
Net interest expense  -1 402 664  -21 846 
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange  -155 523  -51 720 
Writedown of financial assets  -21 540  -19 557 547 
Other financial expenses  -1 259 607  -324 369 
Net finance  -2 526 500  -19 809 455 

Profit/(loss) before tax  -2 652 992  -19 671 261 

Tax income/(expense) 4  503 017  -359 117 
Profit/(loss) for the year  -2 149 975  -20 030 378 
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Balance Sheet

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS – PARENT COMPANY

(USD) Note 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

ASSETS
Non current assets
Deferred tax asset  282 054  - 
Investment in subsidiaries 6  64 179 238  42 814 588 
Investment in financial assets  38 686  -  
Total non current assets  64 499 978   42 814 588 

Current assets
Receivables from group companies 8  777 476  5 068 159 
Other receivables  16 082 283  12 123 964 
Receivables parent company 8  769 632 -
Bank deposits 9  10 598 726  7 290 056 
Total current assets  28 228 116  24 482 179 
TOTAL ASSETS  92 728 094  67 296 767

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS – PARENT COMPANY

(USD) Note 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

SHAREHOLDERS` EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity
Paid-in capital
Share capital 5  67 546  34 771 
Share premium  20 933 325  24 982 877 
Other paid-in capital  11 241 237  20 886 931 
Resolved, but not yet paid-in capital increase  14 965 195  -  
Total paid-in capital  47 207 304  45 904 580 

Retained earnings
Other equity  -    - 
Total retained earnings  -    - 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 5  47 207 304  45 904 580 

LIABILITIES
Long term liabilities
Deferred tax liability 4  -   216 217 
Interest-bearing debt 10  31 438 439  -  
Total long term liabilities  31 438 439  216 217 

Short term liabilities
Accounts payable  -   965 530 
Taxes payable 4  -  336 467 
Liabilities to parent company 8  734 057  -  
Liabilities to group companies 8  7 114 271  19 597 650 
Other current liabilities  6 234 023  276 323 
Total short term liabilities  14 082 352  21 175 970 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  45 520 790  21 392 187 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS` EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  92 728 094  67 296 767 

 

Oslo, 27. March, 2017

Jens Ismar
CEO

Bengt A. Rem 
Chairman of the Board

Erik Borgen 
Board member

Tord Meling 
Board member
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Cash Flow Statement

WESTERN BULK CHARTERING AS – PARENT COMPANY

(USD) 2016 2015

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) before tax -2 652 992 -19 671 261
Taxes paid  -362 424  -  
Writedown investment in subsidiaries 21 540 19 562 644
Changes in current receivables and current liabilities 14 559 127 11 275 736
Net cash flow from/(to) operating activities A 11 565 251 11 167 119

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in financial assets -38 686  -  
Investments in subsidiaries -15 005 703 -3 427 158
Net cash flow from investments B -15 044 389 -3 427 158

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share capital increase 21 361 000  -  
Change in intra-group balances -14 573 191 -9 888 035
Net cash flow from financing activities C 6 787 809 -9 888 035

Net change in liquidity during the year A+B+C 3 308 671 -2 148 073

Liquid assets as of 1.1. 7 290 056 9 438 129
Liquid assets as of 31.12 10 598 726 7 290 056

Restricted bank deposits as of 31.12. 4 431 457 4 670 070
Available liquid assets as of 31.12 6 167 269 2 619 986

 

Note 1 – Accounting principles 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Account-
ing Act of 1998 and generally accepted accounting principles in 
Norway. The main accounting principles are described below.  
Unless otherwise stated, all figures specified in the notes are  
quoted in US dollars (USD). The annual accounts have been  
prepared on a going concern basis. 

Reporting currency and functional currency 
The company accounts are reported in USD and the functional 
currency is also USD. 

Forreign currency 
Monetary items, receivables and liabilities in the balance sheet 
denominated in other than USD are recorded at the year end 
exchange rates. Profit and loss items in foreign currency are 
recorded at exchange rates prevailing at the time of the transac-
tion. Both realized and unrealized gains and losses are included 
under financial items in the profit and loss statement. The 
following exchange rate has been used as of 31.12.2016: USD/
NOK 8,6200. 

Classification of assets and liabilities 
Current assets and current liabilities include items that fall due 
within one year as well as items associated with the business 
flows. Other items are defined as fixed assets/long term liabilities. 

Revenue recognition 
Interest income is accounted for when received. 

Dividends/group contributions are accounted for at the time when 
such dividend/group contribution is received, or when provided for, 
when the Western Bulk Chartering Group has controlling interest.

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies
Subsidiaries and investments in associates are valued by the 
cost method in the company accounts. The investment is valued 
as cost of acquiring shares in the subsidiary, providing that write 
down is not required. Write down to fair value will be carried out 
if the reduction in value is caused by circumstances which may 
not be regarded as incidental, and deemed necessary by generally 
accepted accounting principles. Write downs are reversed when 
the cause of the initial write down are no longer present. 

Txpense in the profit and loss accounts includes both taxes pay-
able for the period and changes in deferred taxes. The change in 
deferred tax reflects changes in future liabilities and 
assets as a result of timing differences between the tax and the 

accounts. Deferred tax is the tax that relates to the accumulated 
result, but is paid in a subsequent period. Deferred tax/deferred tax 
assets have been calculated on net positive temporary differences  
between accounting and tax-based balance sheet values and 
which are reversed within a reasonable period of time together with 
the deferred tax asset related to tax losses carried forward. 

Deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets within the same tax 
system are recorded on a net basis. 

Deferred tax asset is recorded only if the future utilization  
is probable. 

Financial instruments and hedge accounting 
Western Bulk Chartering and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) has  
a defined hedging strategy. Reference is made to Notes in the  
Group accounts for information about financial instruments  
and hedge accounting. 

Cash flow statements 
The cash flow statements are based on the indirect method. 
Restricted bank deposits are recorded as cash equivalents. Shares 
are considered to have a high price risk and are not classified as 
cash equivalents. 

Changes in accounting principles
There are no material changes in the accounting principles for the 
periods presented. 

Note 2 – Administrative expenses
 
The Company has no employees. All employees in the Norwegian 
activity of the Western Bulk Chartering Group are employed by  
the management company Western Bulk Management AS.  
Consequently, Western Bulk Chartering AS is not obliged to have 
mandatory occupational pension scheme according to the  
Act relating mandatory occupational pensions. Western Bulk Man-
agement AS performs management services for Western  
Bulk Chartering AS. 

Note 3 – Remuneration to the Auditor and members 
of the Board of Directors

The audit fee to RSM Norge AS for the audit of the Annual 
accounts was USD 16.500. An additional USD 20.200 has been 
expensed for other consulting services provided.

The Board of Directors have not received any remuneration.  
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Note 4 – Tax

(USD) 2016 2015
The tax expense for the year consists of:
Taxes payable - 336 468
Correction of tax payable from prior period 4 -
Changes in deferred tax -503 013 22 649
Total tax expense/(income) -503 009 359 117

Basis for tax payable: 
Profit/(loss) before tax -2 652 992 -2 652 992
Writedown financial assets  21 540 19 204 038
Change in temporary differences -26 525  -   
Bad debt provision   945 240  -   
Other non deductable costs  572 154  -   
Utilization of tax loss carried forward  -   -364 169
Other 173 355 223 125
Tax exempt dividends received - -129 198
Difference in pre-tax profit/(loss) between functional currency and NOK -473 930 1 983 643
Cost related to share capital increase -520 834 -
Basis for tax payable -1 961 992 18 264 447
Tax payable 25% (27% in 2015) - 4 931 401

Deferred tax relates to the following temporary differences:
Current assets -523 372  -   
Other 707 064 864 872
Tax loss carried forward -1 961 992  -   
Finance loss carried forward -572 153  -   
Total temporary differences -2 350 453 864 872
Deferred tax asset not recognized in the balance sheet 282 054  -   
Deferred tax liability/(asset) -282 055 216 217

Note 5 – Equity

(USD)
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

paid-in equity

1) 
Resolved but not 
yet paid-in capital 

increase 1)

Other 
equity / 

(uncovered 
loss) Total

Equity as of 01.01.2016  34 771  24 982 877  20 886 931 - -  45 904 580 
Share capital increase, net 32 775 20 933 325 14 965 195 35 931 295
Bond loan transfer  -24 982 877  -7 495 719  -   -32 478 596
Profit/(loss) for the year -  -2 149 975   -   -2 149 975
Equity as of 31.12.2016  67 546  20 933 325  11 241 237  14 965 195 -  47 207 304 

Note 6 – Shares in subsidiaries

Western Bulk Chartering AS has the following direct ownership as of 31.12.2016

Business
office

Ownership share/
voting share

Book value
(USD)

Western Bulk Management AS Oslo, Norway 100 % 5 044 737
Western Bulk Carriers AS Oslo, Norway 100 % 31 414 472
Western Bulk Pte Ltd Singapore 100 % 27 300 001
Western Bulk Ltda 2) Santiago, Chile 100 % 51
Western Bulk Seattle Inc Seattle, USA 100 % 266 496
Western Bulk Carriers (Switzerland) Sarl Bulle, Switzerland 100 %  -   
Western Bulk Carriers (Miami) Inc. Miami, USA 100 % 10
Western Bulk Carriers Sweden AB Lerum, Sweden 100 %  5 930 
Western Bulk Carriers KS 1) Oslo, Norway 100 % 147 541
Western Bulk Carriers, GBMH (in liquidation)  Hamburg 100 %  -  
Investments in subsidiaries 64 179 238

1) 3 % is owned by the subsidiary Western Bulk Management AS.   
2) 99.9% is owned by the subsidiary Western Bulk Pte Ltd.    

(1) The equity amount as of 31.12.2016 includes USD 15 million related to the private placement which was completed in March 2017 
(reference to note 12). This equals the minimum amount which was guaranteed prior to year-end by the two largest shareholders. The 
corresponding receivable for the subscription amount is included as Other receivables at the balance sheet date.

Share capital  
Nominal value per share NOK 0,05
Registered share capital 31.12.2016 NOK 476 443
Registered share capital 31.12.2016, in USD USD 67 546
Total number of shares issued as of 31.12.2016 9 528 868

Dividend restriction
Western Bulk Chartering AS is restricted by its loan agreements, which prohibits dividend payments unless pre-approved by the lenders.
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Note 8 – Intra-group balances and transactions with related parties

At the end of the year, the Company had the following amounts outstanding from/(to) Group companies:    
     

Company (USD) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015
Kistefos AS  -734 057  -   
Western Bulk Carriers AS *) -7 114 271 -6 162 215
Kistefos Equity Operations AS  769 632  -   
Western Bulk Pte Ltd *) 765 516 -4 159 363
Western Bulk Management AS *) 3 787 -3 626 368
Western Bulk Carriers (Sweden) AB 8 173  -   
Net receivables/(liabilities) from group companies   -6 301 221 -13 947 946

Note 9 – Bank deposits 

As of 31.12.2016 the restricted deposits were tied to deposits in favor of clearing houses and a pledge in favor of a bank for bank 
guarantees issued. 
      

(USD) 31.12.2016 31.12.2015
Unrestricted bank deposits 6 167 269 2 619 986
Restricted bank deposits 4 431 457 4 670 070
Total bank deposits 10 598 726 7 290 056

 

*) Western Bulk Chartering AS is trading derivatives for hedging purpose on behalf of Western Bulk Pte Ltd and Western Bulk Carriers AS. 
These derivatives require daily margin calls and settlement, and a master agreement allows Western Bulk Chartering AS to forward the 
margin calls to Western bulk Pte Ltd and Western Bulk Carriers AS.       
       
Western Bulk Chartering AS is VAT-registered together with the following companies:      
Western Bulk Management AS       
Western Bulk Carriers AS       
Western Bulk Carriers KS       
WBC I AS       
WBC V AS       
WBC VI AS       
       
All companies are jointly and severally liable for any debt towards the public authorities. 

The Company has transactions with related companies and all transactions have been carried out as part of the ordinary operations and 
at arms-length prices. Western Bulk Chartering AS enters into FFA contracts (forward freight agreements), freight options and bunker 
hedges on behalf of its subsidiaries and receive a commission based on the related contracts. The total commission for 2016 amounted 
to USD 420 673 The intercompany balances related to these transactions are shown in the table above. See Note 4 in the consolidated 
group accounts for an overview of the financial instruments.

Reference is made to note 10 in consolidated group accounts regarding transactions with Kistefos AS and Kistefos Equity Operations AS. 

Other significant transactions are as follows: Management fee for 2016 paid to Western Bulk Management AS amounting to  
USD 163 935.     

Note 10 – Interest-bearing debt

Bond loan 
The Company has an outstanding bond loan of NOK 300 mill, maturing in full in April 2019. Interest is charged with 3mNibor +6,75%,  
payable on quarterly basis. The Company owns NOK 29 mill of the outstanding bond loan, which is presented net in the balance sheet. 
Reference is made to note 7 regarding the hedge of the currency exposure related to the net outstanding principal amount.  

Bank credit line
The Company has a bank credit line of USD 6 mill, which was undrawn at 31.12.2016. The credit line is subject to annual renewals in June 
every year.

Reference is made to note 12 in consolidated group accounts regarding finacial covenants, security and pledges provided. 

Note 11 – Guarantees

Western Bulk Chartering AS has provided some parent company guarantees for its subsidiaries’ performance under some of their 
commercial contracts and financial liabilities.

Note 7 – Financial instruments 

The Company trades all currency, freight and bunker derivatives with external counterparts on behalf of the subsidiaries. See Note 4 in the 
consolidated group accounts for an overview of the market value as of 31.12.2016.

FX-hedge for G&A expenses
As of 31.12.2016 the Company has hedged its NOK G&A requirements for 2017 on behalf of its subsidiary Western Bulk Management AS 
with forward currency contracts. The external contracts are made in the name of the Company, and an internal back to back contract has 
been made between the Company and Western Bulk Management AS. The fair value of these derivatives as of 31.12.2016 amounted to 
USD -0.5 million.

FX-hedge for the principal amount of the bond loan 
The currency risk associated with this bond loan is currently unhedged, except for a currency option capping the down-side risk of the 
principal amount if the NOK appreciates against the USD to an exchange rate level of 7.68 or lower. The fair value of this derivative as of 
31.12.2016 amounted to USD 1.1 million.       

Note 12 – Subsequent events

In March 2017, Western Bulk Chartering AS completed a share capital increase, issuing 4 616 766 new shares with a gross proceed of 
about USD 18 million. The transaction was fully guaranteed by the two largest shareholders, Kistefos AS and Ojada AS. USD 15 million of 
the transaction was recognized in the balance sheet as of 31.12.2016 (reference to note 5).      
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The Group operates a modern fleet of 
tonnage with an average age of less than 
7 years. In general, newer tonnage has 
lower fuel consumption than older
tonnage, and thereby less emissions.  
The quality of the vessel is also usually 
higher than for older tonnage, reducing 
the risk of incidents.
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Responsible Business Conduct

As a provider of shipping services worldwide, the Group recognizes its  
responsibilities as a global, corporate citizen.
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Various measures are taken in  
order to enhance our Responsible 
Business Conduct (“RBC”)  
behaviour, in line with internationally
respected requirements and 
guidelines and within our sphere  
of influence as ship operators.

The Group aims to integrate RBC 
efforts into the Group’s operating 
and business practices, as we 
believe this will make the Group 
competitively stronger. 

The Group’s Code of Conduct 
(available on www.westernbulk.
com) establishes clear expectations 
for the employees and the organiza-
tion, with regard to good corporate 
conduct, in addition to abiding by 
applicable laws, rules and regula-
tions. The Code of Conduct includes 
requirements and expectations 

related to i.a. confidentiality and 
communication issues, conflicts of 
interest and matters of integrity. All 
employees undergo training of 
selected topics and are required to 
sign-off annually, confirming that 
they have read, understood and will 
comply with the principles set forth 
in the Code of Conduct. 

The Group has a raising concerns 
(“whistle-blower”) policy and 
reporting channel, available on the 
Group’s intranet. Employees are 
expected to report behaviour that 
may be non-compliant with the 
principles set forth in the Code of 
Conduct. This can be done openly, 
to e.g. the employee’s superior or 
the Compliance Manager, or 
anonymously through the reporting 
channel. Concerns raised are logged 
and initially handled by the 

Compliance Manager, before 
addressed within the Group’s 
Compliance Committee. The 
Compliance Committee consists  
of the Group’s CEO, Senior Manage-
ment Team and Compliance 
Manager. The Compliance Manager 
and the Committee shall seek to 
clarify the concern raised and 
propose solutions to handling of the 
situation. The Compliance Manager 
also has a direct reporting line to 
the Board of Directors.

Below, we present the Group’s 
status with regard to the following 
RBC topics; Human Rights, Labour 
Rights, Environment, Anti-Corrup-
tion, Consumer Interests, Science 
and Technology, Competition and 
Taxation. 

Human Rights
Within the Group’s domains of operation, the Group 
shall support, respect and commit to the principles 
set out in UN’s Universal Declaration on Human 
Rights and ensure that the Group is not complicit in 
human rights abuses. 

Before entering into new contracts, the Group’s direct 
counterparts are vetted against several criteria. This 
process is risk based, and depending on e.g. the 
industry or region, may include assessing whether 
there is indication that the counterpart or related 
parties are implicated in human rights breaches.

Labour Rights
The Group’s employees are shore-based, and the 
Group has limited influence on the working conditions 
of the seafarers employed on chartered-in tonnage, 
except for having contract clauses specifying that 
ship-owners shall follow international standards and 
conventions. 

With regards to piracy issues and safety at sea in 
general, a Group company may send a vessel through 
potentially high-risk areas once recommended 
precautions have been made, in dialogue and close 
cooperation with the vessel’s owner and the ship’s 
master. 

Key principles for shore-based employees
• Non-Discrimination – The Group’s policy prohibits 

unlawful discrimination against employees, 
shareholders, directors, customers and suppliers 
because of gender, race, religion, age, disability,  
sexual orientation, nationality, political opinion, 
labour union affiliation, social or ethnic origin. 
Workplace diversity at all levels is encouraged. All 
persons shall be treated with dignity and respect 
and they shall not be unreasonably interfered with 

in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities. 
All employees and officers shall assist to create a 
work environment free from any discrimination due 
to gender, race, religion, age, disability, sexual 
orientation, nationality, political opinion, union 
affiliation, social or ethnic origin. 

• Compensation – The Group shall ensure that wages 
paid to employees and hired labour are considered 
fair and meets any national legal standards on 
minimum wage, and that working hours are not 
excessive and as a minimum complies with applica-
ble local laws or agreements.

• Labour standards – No form of forced, compulsory 
or child labour is tolerated within the Group. 
Children below the age of 15 shall not be employed. 
Freedom of association and the right to collective 
bargaining and agreements shall be respected in all 
operations of the Group. 

• Safe working environment – The necessary 
conditions for a safe and healthy work environment 
shall be provided for all employees (see description 
of the Safety of Life at Sea Convention below). 

Fact Box: Safety of life at sea (Solas)
(Source: www.IMO.org)

The Titanic disaster prompted the world’s maritime nations to gather in London in 1914 and adopt what would  
become the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS). 

The Convention established the first set of international vessel requirements for lifesaving equipment and other  
basic safety measures. It is still in force today, and signatory states must comply with minimum safety standards  
in construction, equipment and operation.
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Environment
As the Group is a charterer of tonnage, the Group does not have 
direct control over the environmental impact of the day-to-day 
operations of the chartered-in fleet. The Group uses contract 
clauses specifying that the owners of our chartered-in vessels 
shall comply with current laws and regulations. For the areas 
where the Group’s actions can make a difference, for example  
for bunker purchases, the Group’s policy is to comply with  
all applicable laws and regulations.

Key principles
• Resource Efficiency – The Group’s aim is to operate in such a 

way that energy and raw materials are used efficiently, and 
waste and residual products are minimized over the life 
cycles. 

• Precautionary Principle – The Group supports the  
precautionary principle by avoiding materials and methods 
posing environmental and health risks as far as reasonably  
practicable. 

The Group only charters in vessels with valid certificates  
of class (see separate fact box about ship classification). 
Further, the Group has internal requirements for vetting,  
and uses RightShip and Equasis as source of information for 
screening of vessels to ensure the quality of chartered tonnage 
for the intended cargo operation. There is an overall aim to 
charter modern, high quality tonnage, and there is also a general 
economic and environmental incentive to charter in newer 
tonnage due to lower fuel consumption. The Group’s charterparty 
contracts specify that the owners of our chartered-in vessels 
shall to comply with international oil pollution legislation and to 
comply with low-sulphur regulations in IMO’s 

International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from 
Ships (MARPOL, see separate fact box).

As from 1 January 2015, new IMO regulations related to sulphur 
oxides (SOx) emissions came into force. Within the so-called 
Emission Control Areas (ECA), being defined parts of the Baltic 
Sea, North Sea, North American sea and United States Caribbean 
Sea areas (as defined in MARPOL), the allowed limit of sulphur 
contained in the fuel has been lowered to 0.10 %. The Group 
complies with these requirements through systematic monitor-
ing and execution of vessel bunkering by the Group’s Bunker 
department and vessel Operators. Consequently, the low-sulphur 
fuel consumed has increased relative to the high-sulphur fuel  
(see table 2). Average bunker consumption per steaming day 
(metric ton HFO) has been at a stable level over the last years. 
The Group will work towards at least maintaining this level  
going forward.

In general, newer tonnage has lower fuel consumption than older 
tonnage, and thereby less emissions. The quality of the vessel is 
also usually higher than for older tonnage, reducing the risk of 
incidents. Internal statistics show that the average age of the 
Group’s chartered-in tonnage has been relatively stable over the 
last years (see table 1). The Group’s aim going forward is to 
reduce or maintain the average age of chartered-in tonnage.

The Group will continue to follow the regulations towards usage 
of low vs high-sulphur bunkers in designated marine areas and 
expects to continue to increase the low-sulphur fuel consumed 
relative to the high-sulphur fuel. See table 2 for details of the 
Group’s bunker purchases split on normal versus low-sulphur 
fuel in the period 2012 to 2016.

Fact Box: Ship classification 
(Sources: www.DNVGL.com and http://www.iacs.org.uk/) 

Ship classification is based on three main elements applicable to both 
new-build projects and in-service vessels:
1.  Setting standards (classification rules).
2.  Verifying compliance with standards (approval of specifications and 

drawings, surveys and testing).
3.  Documenting compliance with standards (survey reports,  

classification certificates).

Ship classification is performed by Classification Societies.
 As an independent, self-regulating, externally audited body, a  
Classification Society has no commercial interests related to ship 
design, ship building, ship ownership, ship operation, ship management, 
ship maintenance or repairs, insurance, or chartering.

Fact Box: MARPOL (International Convention for the Prevention  
of Pollution from Ships) 
Includes regulations aimed at preventing and minimizing pollution  
from ships - both accidental pollution and that from routine operations. 
(Source: http://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Environment/PollutionPre-
vention/AirPollution/Pages/Air-Pollution.aspx)

MARPOL Annex VI 

Sets limits on sulphur oxide and nitrogen oxide emissions from  
ship exhausts and prohibits deliberate emissions of ozone depleting 
substances. (Source: www.imo.org/OurWork/Environment/ 
PollutionPrevention/AirPollution/Pages/The-Protocol-of-1997- 
MARPOL-Annex-VI).aspx)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Fleet

Average Number of ships  129  153  169  155  125 

Fleet age

Average age  7,2  6,8  6,5  6,6  6,8 

Weighted average age  7,0  6,3  6,1  5,7  5,9 

Median  5,0  4,0  4,0  5,0  6,0 

Fleet age by age category

0-5 Years 51 % 57 % 61 % 65 % 57 %

5-10 Years 22 % 20 % 18 % 17 % 26 %

10-15 Years 14 % 16 % 12 % 10 % 13 %

15-20 Years 9 % 7 % 9 % 7 % 5 %

20-25 Years 3 % 1 % 0 % 1 % 0 %

Over 25 Years 1 % 0 % 0 % 0 % 0 %

Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

Fact Box: Table 1; The Group’s Average Fleet Age

Fact Box: Table 2; The Group’s Fuel Purchased

Fuel purchased 2012
in % 

of total 2013
in % 

of total 2014
in % 

of total 2015
in % 

of total 2016
in % 

of total

Heavy Fuel (HFO), normal sulphur  
(for main engine), tons

  
531 105 

 
97 %

  
557 104 

 
98 %

  
570 213 

 
97 %

  
606 110 

 
91 %

  
466 880 

 
92 %

LS MGO/Diesel oil, low sulphur  
(for main-/aux. engine), tons

  
4 515 

 
1 %

  
5 058 

 
1 %

  
13 027 

 
2 %

  
55 010 

 
8 %

  
37 487 

 
7 %

MGO/Diesel oil, normal sulphur  
(for aux. engine), tons

  
11 036 

 
2 %

  
8 967 

 
2 %

  
3 570 

 
1 %

  
3 620 

 
1 %

  
870 

 
0 %

Total, tons  546 656 100 %  571 129 100 %  586 809 100 %  664 740 100 %  505 236 100 %

Average bunker consumption per 
steaming day, metric ton (HFO)

  
24,6 

  
23,2 

  
23,8 

  
23,9 

  
23,9 
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Science and Technology
Innovation provide benefits for the shipping industry’s stakehold-
ers. The Group wants to contribute with the Group’s experience, 
competence and capacity in this regard. Generally, the Group 
advocates supporting Norwegian research communities that  
can contribute to maintaining or improving Norway’s front 
position in the maritime business.

On several occasions, the Group has cooperated with academic 
institutions in Norway. This has i.a. included development work 
related to calculating risks, and providing research topics and 
guidance for Master students’ thesis work. 

In April 2014, the Group signed on to contribute to the project 
Green Shipping Under Uncertainty (GREENSHIPRISK), by joining a 
consortium representing a collaboration between the Norwegian 
School of Economics (NHH, Project owner), the Norwegian 
University of Science and Technology (NTNU), the Norwegian 
Marine Technology Research Institute (MARINTEK), Centre for 

Applied Research at NHH, Odfjell SE and Bergen Shipowners’ 
Association. The Group, the other industrial partners and The 
Research Council of Norway provides financial funding for the 
project. 

This research project aims to develop a framework for the 
modelling of uncertainty in ship and fleet operations and, on this 
basis, to develop applications for the optimization of operational 
and investment decisions in order to improve energy efficiency, 
safety and profitability, and to reduce the maritime industry’s 
environmental footprint. 

The Group will continue to contribute with practical experience 
and case-study material for the GREENSHIPRISK project until its 
planned conclusion in 2017.

The Group will also continue to support other academic  
initiatives, when there is capacity available.
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Anti-Corruption 
The Group is committed to conduct business with 
integrity, openness and honesty in all aspects of our 
business dealings. The Group demands and expects 
that the Group’s employees at every level of the 
organization adhere to applicable laws and  
regulations in the countries where the Group  
operates. The Group requires all employees  
to refrain from bribery. 

The Code of Conduct also includes requirements to 
prevent money laundering directly or indirectly through 
the Group’s financial transactions. 

Employees receive regular training and awareness- 
raising regarding the Group’s internal policies related 
to anti-corruption, including so-called facilitation 
payments. 

Before approving contractual counterparts, they are 
vetted using a risk-based approach against databases 
containing information on i.a. adverse media coverage. 
Port agents are vetted by the Group’s global provider 

of port cost management services, through their due 
diligence process. This includes i.a. sanctions 
screening, review of agency ownership and verification 
of bank account ownership. New brokers are also 
requested to submit relevant company- and ownership 
information, and are vetted by the Group’s Counterpart 
Approval Team.

The Group joined the Maritime Anti-Corruption 
Network (MACN, www.maritime-acn.org) in 2013. 
Established in 2011, MACN is a global business 
network working towards its vision of a maritime 
industry free of corruption, where the members learn 
and share best practices to improve their anti-corrup-
tion programs. MACN also collaborates with key 
stakeholders, including governments, authorities, and 
international organizations, in markets where 
corruption is prevalent to its membership, to identify 
and mitigate the root causes of corruption in the 
maritime industry. The Group participates in  
knowledge sharing and other collective action 
initiatives together with the secretariat and other 
members of the network.

Competition
The Group operates in a highly competitive industry. 
The Group competes in a fair and ethically justifiable 
manner in relation to competitors as well as to 
customers and suppliers. The Group will under no 
circumstances cause or be part of any breach of 
general or special competition regulations, such as 
illegal pricing cooperation, illegal market sharing or 
any other behaviour that is in breach of applicable 
competition legislation.

As an active member of the shipping community, the 
Group engages with a wide variety of organizations 
and industry forums. Participating in formal meetings, 
workshops etc., the Group complies with rules of not 
disclosing sensitive business and market information, 
which might be used to distort fair competition in the 
marketplace. 

Taxation
Western Bulk Chartering AS is domiciled in Norway 
and controls legal and operational entities in Norway, 
Singapore, the United States of America, Chile, 
Sweden, Switzerland and Morocco. 

The Group complies with tax laws, regulations and 
filing requirements in the jurisdictions where the Group 
and its subsidiaries are located.

The Group follows the arm’s length principle and 
complies with the recommendations set out in the 
OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for internal transac-
tions between the companies controlled by Western 
Bulk Chartering AS.

For further details about the Group’s taxation, please 
also refer to the explanatory notes in the Group’s 
financial statements.

Consumer Interests
The Group’s reputation is a critical asset to the Group. 
In order to maintain and further strengthen the 
Group’s position in the market, it is important that 
services provided meet the quality expected by the 
Group’s customers.

The Group carries many different types of cargo for 
customers worldwide and follows the requirements 
laid out in IMO’s International Maritime Solid Bulk 
Cargoes Code (IMSBC Code). The primary aim of this 

Code is to facilitate the safe stowage and shipment of 
solid bulk cargoes. This includes recommendations 
on topics such as trimming and test procedures, 
stowage etc. 

The last year has shown a positive development with 
regards to cargo and other claims, with a significant 
reduction in the received number of claims. This is 
due to continued focus on risk mitigation, high-quality 
operations and professional support.
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Adresses

Western Bulk Chartering AS/
Western Bulk Carriers AS/
Western Bulk Management AS
Henrik Ibsensgt. 100,
P.O. Box 2868 Solli
N-0230 Oslo
NORWAY
Phone: (47) 23 13 34 00
Fax: (47) 85 23 26 79

Western Bulk Pte Ltd
16 Collyer Quay #28-01
SINGAPORE 049318
Phone: (65) 6 653 2300
Fax: (65) 6 622 0301

Western Bulk Carriers (Seattle) Inc
1001 Fourth Avenue,
Suite 4105
Seattle, WA 98154
USA
Phone: (1) 206 292 0909
Fax: (1) 206 292 0904

Western Bulk Chile Ltda
Edificio Mistral, Rosario Norte #615
Of. 1903, Piso 19
Las Condes, Santiago
CHILE
Phone: (56) 2 2714 7300
Fax: (56) 2 2714 7325

Western Bulk (Miami) Inc
601 Brickell Key Drive
Suite 1080
Miami, FL 33131
USA
Phone: (1) 305 922 6143
Fax: (47) 85 23 26 79

Western Bulk Management AS – West Africa
33 rue Hassan Seghir
Casablanca
MOROCCO
Phone: (47) 23 13 35 56


